1978

State of Utah v. Dennis Blaine Angus : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is a criminal prosecution for aggravated assault, involving the shooting of the victim on the highway with enhancement of sentence for use of a firearm or facsimile in commission of a felony.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The aggravated assault case was tried to a jury who convicted the Appellant of aggravated assault. The trial judge made a finding of use of a firearm and invoked the enhancement provision of the penalty statute. From the verdict and judgment of conviction and commitment on the enhancement statute Defendant appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks reversal of the judgment of conviction, an order remanding for new trial, suppressing use of the .22 caliber pistol in evidence or alternately, remand for evidentiary hearing on suppression and/or that the commitment on the enhancement provision of Utah Code Annotated §76-3-203 be vacated.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the 20th day of July, 1977, Clyde Davies was driving a truck southbound on I-15 near Santaquin, Utah, when he was shot. The driver of a truck following him heard a loud noise at about the same time and observed a white van on the northbound side of the highway. Defendant was stopped and detained leaving I-15 in his white van, and a search of

the van was conducted, turning up a .22 caliber pistol and a number of empty shell casings. The Defendant was tried and convicted of the charge of aggravated assault before a jury. The information made no reference to the enhancement provision of the penalty statute for use of a firearm. The jury was not provided with a verdict form on the enhancement provision and the essential elements of the crime as charged, did not include an element on the use of a firearm. At sentencing, the trial judge made a finding that a firearm had been used and invoked the enhancement provisions, sentencing the Defendant to two consecutive sentences of not less than five years in prison.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SEARCH OF THE DEFENDANT'S VEHICLE WAS CONDUCTED WITHOUT PROBABLE CAUSE, PRIOR TO ARREST, AND WITHOUT THE CONSENT OF THE APPELLANT, AND ALL EVIDENCE OBTAINED IN THE SEARCH SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUPPRESSED.

Sometime shortly following the shooting of Mr. Davies, the Appellant was stopped on the highway and a search was conducted of his vehicle. This search revealed a .22 caliber pistol in the rear portion of the van that became the primary evidence against him in trial. The problem then becomes to determine the authority under which the search was conducted and whether it meets the standards prescribed for warrantless searches under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution.

Searches conducted outside the judicial process without prior approval by a judge or magistrate are, per se, unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment, subject only to a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions. Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 357 19 1Ed 2d 576, 583.

The burden is on those seeking exemption to show the need for it. United States v. Jeffers, 342 U.S. 48, 41, 96 LEd 59, 64.

One exception is a search incident to an arrest. In order for a search incident to an arrest to stand, the arresting officer must have sufficient probable cause to arrest the Defendant, must lawfully effectuate the arrest, and must place the Defendant in custody. Gustafson v. Florida, 414 U.S. 260. While in the present case the person of the Defendant was seized and detained, and he may well be considered to have been in custody, there existed neither probable cause for an arrest nor the lawful effectuation of an arrest. In order to judge the probable cause for arrest, probable cause must be judged solely on that information and evidence available to the arresting officer at the time the Appellant's vehicle was stopped. The arresting officer may not rely upon evidence obtained in a search conducted after the arrest in order to provide probable cause for the arrest. Henry v. United States, 361 U.S. 98; Rios v. United States, 364 U.S. 253; Whiteley v. Warden of Wyoming State Penetentiary, 401 U.S. 560. We must, then consider what knowledge was available to the arresting officer when he stopped Appellant and "detained" him for "investigation". The officer was aware that someone (Mr. Davies) had been injured and probably shot. He was aware that the shooting had taken place a short distance away on Interstate Highway 15. He was aware that another person (Mr. Child) had heard a loud noise at about the same time that Mr. Davies was shot, and that he had observed a white van heading the opposite direction on the Interstate. This information is further supported by another report of a loud noise and that a cream colored van was across the highway at that time. There was no information on any persons within the van or vans and nothing out of the ordinary about the conduct of the van or its driver or any passengers. There is not even a

strong inference that the shots were fired from a vehicle, let alone the white van. However, it is certainly reasonable that the police officers, upon being informed that someone had been shot and additionally advised that at that time a white van was across the highway with some corroborative in another report of a loud noise coupled with the proximity of a cream van, that the police would attempt to locate any white or cream vans in the area in order to question the driver and any passengers, and at least ascertain their identity. But no magistrate would issue a warrant of arrest or allow a complaint to stand based upon such evidence, and accordingly, there was not sufficient probable cause to arrest Appellant and any search incident to such arrest is defective and testimony with regards thereto and evidence located must be suppressed.

It is additionally questionable whether the Appellant was in fact arrested by the officer. When he was stopped, Officer Bradford did not advise him he was under arrest, but told him he was being "...detained while we investigate the situation" (transcript page 49, lines 6-7) This would seem to demonstrate that Officer Bradford knew there was no probable cause for arrest at that time, and did not then intend to arrest.

Even though there was not sufficient probable cause to arrest, this would not prohibit the Appellant being stopped for investigation. Employing the principles of good police work, Officer Bradford knew that a driver of a white van may have been involved in criminal conduct. He could, therefore, stop a white van in the area of a crime, and could conduct a search of the person of the driver of the vehicle. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1; Sibron v. New York, 392 U.S. 40; Adams v. Williams, 407 U.S. 143. But the purpose of this type of search "...is not to discover evidence of a crime but to

allow the officer to pursue his investigation without fear of violence." Adams v. Williams, supra at 146. Accordingly, the scope of such a "stop and frisk" search is limited to the individual and such limited surroundings as are reasonably necessary to protect the safety of the officer. Terry v. Ohio, supra; Adams v. Williams, supra. The arresting officer might then search the person of the Appellant for weapons and look into the van to ascertain it held no other persons, but, the .22 caliber pistol which was discovered in the rear of the van, and out of sight, was well beyond the scope of such a search. Officer Bradford testified "I really had to look hard, but finally found it..." (Transcript page 44, lines 4 and 5) There can, then, be no pretense that the officer's search was for the purpose of protecting his person and guarding against possible physical harm by the Appellant.

Another exception allows police to make a warrantless search of a motor vehicle even when it is not incident to arrest, and where there may not be probable cause to arrest, if they have probable cause to justify the search. Carol v. United States, 267 U.S. 132; Chambers v. Maroney, 399 U.S. 42. While this is tantamount to an ex post facto type of warrant, it is justified upon the transitory nature of vehicles. Chambers, supra. The difference in probable cause required for search of a vehicle is applied to the vehicle in much the same way probable cause for arrest is applied to an individual. In Chambers, the court provided that the similarity of vehicle descriptions including partial descriptions of the occupants, gave probable cause to search the vehicle. But there was a great deal more in that case to distinguish the vehicle from all others on the road besides its color and type as in the instant case. There were four persons in the suspect vehicle, four in the stopped vehicle. The clothing of some of the passengers matched that of some

of the suspects. But the greatest difference is that in Chambers, the vehicle description was of a vehicle known to have been involved in the crime not just in the area of the crime.

If the description of a person committing a crime was broadcast, a person answering that description might be arrested, but if the description was merely that of a person seen in the area of the crime, there would not be probable cause for an arrest.

It is an exception to the requirement for probable cause for a search that the Defendant may consent to the conduct of the search. Davis v. United States, 328 U.S. 582; Zat v. United States, 328 U.S. 624; Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347.

Officer Bradford claims that he conducted the search with the consent of the Appellant. After stopping the Appellant, he was ordered from the van by loud speaker, told to place his hands on the van and was searched. He was informed by Officer Bradford that he was going to be "detained" and that his van was going to be searched. (See Transcript page 48 lines 23-25) He was not advised of his rights or informed that he could refuse the search. The Appellant did not consent to the search, but merely consented to authority. This is not consent, and cannot make an unlawful search lawful. Bumper v. North Carolina, 391 U.S. 543, 20 LEd 2 797.

The .22 caliber pistol was seized in an unlawful search and should be suppressed, and Appellant's conviction reversed or remanded for an evidentiary hearing to determine if the evidence of the search should be suppressed.

II. UTAH CODE ANNOTATED §76-3-203 APPLIES TWO SEPARATE SENTENCES FOR THE SAME CRIMINAL ACT, AND, THEREFORE, IMPOSES DOUBLE PUNISHMENT, PROHIBITED BY THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES.

It is long established doctrine that the Fifth Amendment not only protects against being twice tried for the same offense, but prohibits double punishment. Ex Parte Lange, 18 Wall 163, 21 LEd 872; United States v. Ewell, 383 U.S. 116; North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711. This is applied to the States by the Fourteenth Amendment Benton v. Maryland, 395 U.S. 784.

In providing a statutory scheme for enhancement of sentence for use of a firearm in the commission of a crime Utah Code Annotated 76-3-203 chooses rather than enlarging the basic sentence to provide for an entirely separate and distinct sentence. One that does not begin to run until the Defendant has completed serving the sentence for the crime itself.

There is some precedence that multiple punishments may constitutionally be imposed as the consequence of a single criminal, but only if they constitute separate statutory offenses. Blockburger v. United States, 234 U.S. 299. In the instant case, the Appellant was charged and tried for only one statutory offense, but was sentenced to two separate and consecutive sentences of not to exceed five years, and the second sentence of not to exceed five years should be vacated.

III. FAILURE TO PROVIDE REASONABLE NOTICE OF THE INTENT TO INVOKE THE ENHANCEMENT PROVISIONS OF UTAH CODE ANNOTATED §76-3-203 DENIED APPELLANT DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

At no point in the proceeding arraignment, preliminary hearing, district court arraignment or trial did the Appellant receive any notice or warning of either the existence of or any intention of the state to proceed upon the firearm enhancement provisions of Utah Code Annotated §76-3-203, in fact, the record is silent with regard to either this section or its special

potential until sentencing. Accordingly, the Defendant was afforded no reasonable notice and opportunity either at trial or later to confront the issues involved in the enhancement statute, or to plan his strategy and bargain plea based on a realization of the full potential of his exposure. Failure to provide the Defendant reasonable notice is a denial of due process under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the Constitution of the United States. Cyler v. Boles, 368 U.S. 448.

IV. FAILURE TO PROVIDE OPPORTUNITY FOR A FINDING SPECIFICALLY ON THE USE OF A FIREARM OR FACSIMILE AS OPPOSED TO A DEADLY WEAPON EITHER THROUGH AN ELEMENT TO THE OFFENSE OR VERDICT CONSTITUTES FAILURE TO INVOKE THAT SECTION.

The State, through the County Attorney, has a broad discretion in determining what a Defendant will have to answer. Each criminal act is usually surrounded with a myriad of potentials for criminal prosecution. The County Attorney is charged with reviewing these potentials, and charging those that can best be proved and that best fit the situation. It is an affirmative duty on the part of the State to advise the Defendant of those charges it intends to prove.

The State of California, which has a similar use of a firearm statute (California Penal Code Section 12022.5) has ruled that unless the State takes affirmative action to indicate its choice to pursue the enhancement provision at trial, it may not be invoked at sentencing and is waived. People v. Najera, 503 P2d 1353 (Cal. 1972) (quoting from People v. Spanish 99 Cal Rptr 681, 691, S. Cal. App. 3d 736, 302) the Court states:

"It seems not unreasonable to hold that the failure of the prosecution to request either the necessary jury instruction, or the submission of the requisite

special verdict, should be taken as an indication that Section 12022.5 has not been invoked." Id at 1358.

The language of Utah Code Annotated §76-3-203 is specific in its requirement for a "finding" by the jury that a "firearm or facsimile or representation of a firearm" was utilized in the commission or furtherance of the crime. This creates a new and additional element that is an essential element to the application of the enhancement provision. When the court in the instant case instructed the jury in its Instruction No. 5 no element on the use of a firearm or facsimile thereof was included. The jury was required to find only that a dangerous weapon as required by the aggravated assault statute was used. Utah Code Annotated §76-5-103.

Failure to so instruct denied the Appellant the right to a finding he was entitled to by the statute before its full force and effect could be brought to bare against him.

The case should either be remanded for new trial on all issues or the State deemed to have waived invocation of the enhancement provision and the sentence thereon declared void and vacated.

V. UTAH CODE ANNOTATED §76-3-203 CREATES A SEPARATE AND DISTINGUISHABLE OFFENSE WHICH MUST BE PLED AS A SEPARATE CHARGE TO BE INVOKED.

The enhancement provision for use of a firearm is contained within the penalty provision of the criminal code, and further listed as an adjunct to the description of the felony involved. The provisions of that Section specifically provide for a separate and distinguishable sentence rather than an enlargement of the otherwise provided sentence. Accordingly, the enhancement portion of the statute would seem to provide a separate and

distinguishable criminal offense.

The Federal Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Acts of 1968, provides enhancement of sentence for being armed with a firearm in the commission of a federal crime. This provision, like Utah's, being found within the punishment of the code. 18 U.S.C. §924(c). Although the federal law is distinguishable in that it enlarges the basic sentence rather than providing a separate sentence, the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals has construed the federal law to provide a separate offense which must be charged as a separate count to the information. United States v. Sudduth, 457 F2d 1198, 25 ALR Fed. 671. Further, holding that an enhanced sentence predicated on the firearm provision alone could not be imposed on an indictment charging only an independent felony. United States v. Vigil, 458 F2d 385 (CA 10 1972). The Federal Omnibus Act has also been construed to create separate crimes by the Second Circuit in United States v. Ramirez, 482 F2d 807 (CA 2 1973) cert den 414 U.S. 1070.

It would seem that the legislature in setting an additional sentence separate and apart from that carried by the basic charge probably envisioned a separate crime as the federal law has been interpreted, one that would have to be charged before it could be invoked, one that would have to provide a Defendant of reasonable notice of its intended use as required by Oyler v. Boles, supra, and one upon which the Defendant is entitled to a specific jury instruction and elements for the crime and a verdict by the jury on that issue. Accordingly, the sentence of the Appellant on the enhancement statute should be vacated.

VI. THE FINDINGS OF FACT REQUIRED BY UTAH CODE ANNOTATED §76-3-203(3) WAS MADE BY THE JUDGE RATHER THAN THE JURY AND DENIED APPELLANT HIS RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.

The enhancement portion of Utah Code Annotated §76-3-203 requires that there be a finding by the trier of fact with regards to the utilization of the firearm. It is well settled that in any case involving criminal conduct where a jury is present, that the finder of fact is the jury. In the instant case, as discussed above, there was no element included in the charge that made a separate and distinguishable finding that a firearm or facsimile was used, neither was there a verdict, special or otherwise, employed to make a finding as required by the statute. This seems to be recognized by the trial judge in the language of the commitment. The commitment of the Court issued on the 28th day of October, 1977, sentences the Defendant to a term in the Utah State Prison of not to exceed five years for the underlying charge of aggravated assault, but goes on: "in addition thereto, the Court finds that a firearm was used in the commission of the crime, and therefore, under the provisions of §76-3-203(3) of the criminal code, the Defendant is sentenced to an additional term not to exceed five years. Sentence to run consecutively, not concurrently." (emphasis added) Accordingly, the Court by its own language has made its own independent finding of what must be a specific element of the crime, and has thereby usurped the function and duty of the jury. People v. Najera, 503 P^{2d} 1353 (Cal 1972) Appellant was not provided a finding by the jury on an essential issue of fact, this finding cannot be made by the Court no matter how compelling it may seem and may not be inferred from the general verdict of the jury.

Appellant was entitled to a specific finding which finding was denied him and his conviction should be reversed.

CONCLUSIONS

I