1978

# State of Utah v. Dennis Blaine Angus : Brief of A Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

A. THE SEARCH OF APPELLANT'S VEHICLE WAS CONDUCTED PURSUANT TO APPELLANT'S CONSENT; THEREFORE, EVIDENCE OBTAINED DURING THE SEARCH WAS ADMISSIBLE AT TRIAL.

The circumstances of the search of appellant's vehicle demonstrate convincingly that appellant voluntarily consented to the search of his van by Officer Bradford. Pertinent testimony is documented at T.43, during the direct examination of the officer, after earlier questioning had established that Officer Bradford parked his vehicle behind appellant's van, ordered appellant out of his vehicle, and approached and searched appellant:

"A. When I was searching him he asked me what was going on. I told him he was in a suspect vehicle; that we would like to look in his van. He said, 'Go ahead. I will tell you anything you want to know or tell you where anything is if you want to know.'

Q. Did he tell you what was in the van?

A. Yes, he did.

Q. What did he say?

A. He said, 'There is a .22 rifle in there and there is a pistol, .22 pistol.'

Q. Did you in fact look into the van?

A. Yes, I did."

Officer Bradford then continued to describe the weapons and ammunition found inside the van. It must be emphasized that no objections to any of this testimony were made at trial nor does the record indicate any motion to suppress the evidence by defense counsel prior to trial. Thus, respondent contends that by failing to raise such objections or motions to the admission of the evidence found during the search, appellant waived the right to raise such objections now on appeal.

Nevertheless, the record--in particular Officer Bradford's testimony--provides no support for appellant's claim that he merely consented to the authority of the police to search and did not personally authorize the

search. Respondent submits that Bumper v. North Carolina, 391 U.S. 543 (1968), relied upon by appellant, is easily distinguished for in Bumper the Court held no genuine consent to a search can be given where the basis for the consent is an assertion by a law enforcement officer that he has a search warrant; therefore, the lawfulness of the search cannot be justified on the basis that the occupant consented.

Because appellant's consent was actual and not coerced in any manner by the investigating officers, the fruits of that search were properly admitted into evidence at trial.

B. AN ADDITIONAL BASIS FOR THE SEARCH WAS PROVIDED BY THE PROBABLE CAUSE TO STOP THE VAN IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE WARRANTLESS SEARCH EXCEPTION ALLOWED FOR MOVING VEHICLES.

Officer Royce testified (T.76) that after he escorted Mr. Davies to the patrol car, he waved Officer Sparks northbound, anticipating the direction the suspect vehicle had gone, based on an earlier report which had alerted him of another incident. The information provided by Mr. Child described the suspect vehicle as a northbound white van (T.40), one that Officer Sparks had observed just prior to Mr. Davies' report. The traffic that

evening was light, and appellant's van was the only white one in the vicinity (T.40). Approximately four minutes after the radio report to intercept a white van, Officer Sparks and Bradford made contact with the van, followed it for two miles (T.41), and pulled the van over on the Payson off-ramp (T.77).

Even without appellant's consent, respondent submits that the officer's search of the van and seizure of the weapons and ammunition was a valid search and seizure based on probable cause and justified by the exigent circumstances presented by a moving vehicle.

The probable cause was established by the particular enumerated facts--the description, the timing, the traffic light--which led police officers reasonably to believe that the shots had been fired from appellant's white van. The situation was critical; an unidentified driver of a white van had been taking pot-shots at passing vehicles, seriously endangering lives. All indications were that the shots had originated in appellant's van. To merely discuss the situation with appellant was insufficient and to release the vehicle and driver without a search unthinkable, as the high risk of further injury to other innocent travelers would not have been decreased if weapons remained in the van.

This Court discussed the tension between the right of a citizen to be free from unwarranted governmental interference and the need of law enforcement officers to perform their tasks conscientiously in State v. Criscola, 444 P.2d 517 (Utah 1968), at p. 517:

" . . . But it is equally important that such protections do not become so extended beyond their reasons for being that even when there is no danger or likelihood of any such abuse, they provide a cloak of protection by which those engaged in criminal activities may escape detection and punishment. The essential thing is to keep within the reasonable middle ground, between the protecting of the law-abiding citizen from high-handed or officious intrusions into their private affairs; and the imposing of undue restrictions upon conscientious officers doing their duty in the investigation of crime."

On this basis, given the officer's probable cause, a search of the van was necessary. Under Carroll v. United States, 267 U.S. 132 (1925), and Chambers v. Maroney, 399 U.S. 42 (1970), the on-the-scene warrantless search which ensued was legal:

"The measure of legality of such a seizure is, therefore, that the seizing officer shall have reasonable or probable cause for believing that the automobile which he stops and seizes has contraband liquor therein which is being illegally transported." 267 U.S. at 155-156.

In the instant case, the suspected contraband was a loaded weapon, but the rationale is the same; as the Carroll Court noted, the search of an automobile on probable cause proceeds on a theory wholly different from that justifying a search incident to an arrest for:

". . . [t]he right to search and the validity of the seizure are not dependent on the right to arrest. They are dependent on the reasonable cause the seizing officer has that the contents of the automobile offend against the law." 267 U.S. at 158-159.

It is well settled that once probable cause is established to search a vehicle stopped on the highway, a search warrant is unnecessary. The Carroll Court observed that the car is movable, the occupants are alerted, and the car's contents may never be found again if a warrant must be obtained. Seeing no difference between seizing and holding a vehicle for a warrant and searching the vehicle on the spot, the Court decided that given probable cause, either course is reasonable.

The Chambers' decision reinforced the Carroll principles, observing that the opportunity to search is fleeting since a car is readily movable. At 90 S.Ct. 1981, Footnote 9, the Court remarked:

". . . [f]ollowing the car until a warrant can be obtained seems an impractical alternative since, among other things, the car may be taken out of the jurisdiction. Tracing the car and searching it hours or days later would of course permit the instruments or fruits of crime to be removed from the car before the search."

Under this analysis, the highway patrol officers had a right--if not a duty--to search the suspect van for weapons, even if this Court were to find appellant's consent to the search defective.

Since the plain view doctrine might also justify this search (T.43), respondent urges that on any of these three bases, this Court find the warrantless search valid and the fruits therefrom admissible.

## POINT II

THE ENHANCEMENT PROVISION OF UTAH CODE ANN.  
§ 76-3-203 (SUPP. 1977), DOES NOT IMPOSE A DOUBLE  
PUNISHMENT FORBIDDEN BY THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS  
TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Pertinent portions of Section 76-3-203 provide:

"A person who has been convicted of a felony may be sentenced to imprisonment for an indeterminate term as follows:  
\* \* \*

(3) In the case of a felony of the third degree, for a term not to exceed five years but if the trier of fact finds a firearms or a facsimile or the representation of a firearm was used in the

commission or furtherance of the felony, the court may additionally sentence the person convicted for an indeterminate term not to exceed five years to run consecutively and not concurrently."

This statute grants the court the discretionary power to impose on a felon a longer sentence if he used a firearm during the commission of a crime. In Utah and numerous other states having such a provision, the statute was the response of a legislature concerned with the dramatic increase in violent crimes and especially in the use of firearms to commit those crimes, greatly increasing the risk of injury or death to the victims. Respondent contends that an enhancement provision is not a double punishment; it is rather a punishment increased by the court when a firearm is used, adopted both as a method of deterring criminals from using these most deadly weapons and of punishing them more severely than others who commit the same crimes without using a firearm.

The cases cited by appellant on this point are readily distinguished. Ex Parte Lange, 18 Wall. 163, 21 L.Ed. 872 (1874), was a petition for a writ of habeas corpus, in which the petitioner complained that although he was convicted under an embezzlement statute which provided for imprisonment or fine as a punishment, he was both sentenced to prison and ordered to pay a fine.

The Court found this an illegal double punishment, in violation of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution, which states that "no person shall for the same offense be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb. . . ."

United States v. Elwell, 383 U.S. 116 (1966), also mentions the Double Jeopardy clause in a case concerning narcotics convictions and retrials after reversals. The Court found that clause designed to prohibit double jeopardy as well as double punishment and "is not properly invoked unless the 'same offense' is involved in both the first and second trials." Id. at 124. The instant case simply does not involve two trials for one offense, but a lengthened sentence for using a firearm during one crime.

The third case relied upon by appellant also involved a retrial after the reversal of the first conviction. In North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711 (1969), the Court held that while the Double Jeopardy Clause is violated when punishment already exacted for an offense is not fully credited in imposing a new sentence after retrial on the same offense, the clause does not restrict the length of sentence upon reconviction;

and a more severe sentence may legally be imposed. Once again, it is the dissimilarities to the instant case which are noteworthy--not the similarities--which are limited to both cases being criminal, rather than civil.

Ex Parte Lange, 18 Wall. 163, 21 L.Ed. 872 (1874), provided considerable historical analysis of the Double Jeopardy Clause in observing the clear intent of the framers to be that in the area of double punishment that a man not be subject to a second punishment for the same offense for which he has already served a separate punishment. Since appellant was sentenced to only one punishment, admittedly made more severe because a firearm was used, respondent submits that no violation of the double punishment prohibition occurred.

POINT III

APPELLANT HAD CONSTRUCTIVE NOTICE OF THE UTAH ENHANCEMENT STATUTE; THEREFORE ITS INVOCATION BY THE TRIAL JUDGE WAS NOT A VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS.

Appellant complains that he was never specifically informed of the existence of Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-203 (Supp. 1977), or of its possible application in his case, claiming that he may have plea bargained his way to a lesser penalty or a lesser crime. Not only is such mere speculation inappropriate here, but also a mistake of law is generally no defense. Utah Code Ann. § 76-2-304 (Supp. 1977), provides in pertinent part that: "(2) Ignorance or mistake concerning the existence or meaning of a penal law is no defense to a crime. A few limited exceptions, inapplicable under these facts, are then provided. Therefore, appellant and his attorney were on constructive notice of the statute's existence and a brief perusal of the Sentencing provisions of the Code would have easily detected the enhancement statute. Therefore, appellant, who used a firearm during his crime, was on notice that if convicted, § 76-3-203 might be applied.

By its language the enhancement statute is permissive, not mandatory. Consequently, its application is left to the discretion of the court, although it can act only

if a finding of firearm use has been made by the trier of fact. That is, of course, not determined until the verdict is returned; so the court's deliberative process begins after the conviction with a weighing of the facts of the case which support imposition of the more severe penalty and any mitigating facts which suggest that the judicial discretion not to invoke the enhancement statute ought to be exercised.

Therefore, there should have been no surprises at sentencing when Judge Allen B. Sorenson announced his intention to invoke the enhancement statute and tack onto appellant's initial 0-5 year sentence an additional 0-5 years, to run consecutively, for using a firearm to commit the aggravated assault. Respondent asserts that any actual surprise resulted from appellant's own negligence in failing to study sentencing options and provisions under the Utah Code before deciding to plead not guilty.

Oyler v. Boles, 368 U.S. 448, 82 S.Ct. 501 (1962), cited by appellant, does not support his position as that case concerned an habitual offender statute and the notice requirements applicable thereto. In finding there was a denial of due process, the Court said at 503-504:

"Even though an habitual criminal charge does not state a separate offense, the determination of whether one is a habitual criminal is essentially independent of the determination of guilt on the underlying substantive offense."

However, in the instant case the decision whether or not the enhancement provision could be invoked rested totally on the findings of the jury that a firearm was used in this one crime, a finding necessary under the facts before a guilty verdict could be returned. Respondent, therefore, urges the court to find that appellant was amply accorded due process of the law.

#### POINT IV

THE RETURN OF A GENERAL GUILTY VERDICT IS A FINDING BY IMPLICATION THAT THE DEFENDANT USED A FIREARM, WHERE THE INFORMATION ALLEGED THAT THE DEFENDANT USED A FIREARM IN AN ATTEMPT TO DO BODILY INJURY.

The information against appellant excerpted below and made part of the Appendix, clearly shows that he was charged with using a firearm to commit an assault:

". . .charges that. . .Dennis Blaine Angus assaulted Clyde Davies by attempting, with unlawful force or violence, to do bodily injury to the said Clyde Davies by use of a deadly weapon, to wit: a firearm."

All of the state's evidence at trial concerned shooting reports, bullet holes in vehicles and in a person, retrieval of guns, ammunition, and bullet casings, and ballistic reports linking bullets with guns found in appellant's van. The only aggravated assault at issue was the one alleged to have been

committed by appellant by taking pot-shots at a passing vehicle. Instructions Four and Five, attached hereto as part of the Appendix, informed the jury of the elements of the charge with such specificity that a not guilty verdict was mandatory unless the jury found beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant had used a firearm as the deadly weapon. Although it is true that the jury did not return a special finding to that effect, the return of the guilty verdict was a finding by implication that appellant had committed the crime as charged; and that finding provided the basis for the court's invocation of the enhancement provision of Utah Code Ann. § 76-3-203 (Supp. 1977).

State v. Aberigo, 109 Ariz. 294, 508 P.2d 1156 (1973), supports this rationale and cited approvingly State v. Tosatto, 107 Ariz. 231, 485 P.2d 556 (1971). In the latter case the appellant was convicted of assault with a deadly weapon. The Arizona enhancement provision was invoked even though there had been no jury finding of use of a gun. Commenting that the evidence clearly showed that the defendant had pointed a pistol at the victim, firing it so it barely missed her head, the court held that "all that is necessary [to invoke an enhanced punishment] is that the evidence presented clearly indicates that the assault was committed by means of a gun." 485 P.2d 560.

While the Arizona case is directly on point, the California case cited by appellant is not. The facts of People v. Najera, 8 C.A. 3rd 504, 503 P.2d 1353 (1972), are considerably different. That defendant was charged with robbery and with being armed with a deadly weapon. The prosecution failed to request jury instruction on the use of a firearm under Section 12022.5 of the California Penal Code. The Court noted that an identical situation had arisen in People v. Spencer, 22 Cal. App. 3d 786, 99 Cal Rptr. 681, 691 (1972), where the Second District Court of Appeals had denied the People's request that the cause "be remanded to permit the People the opportunity to try to a jury the allegation that appellant 'used' a firearm within the meaning of Penal Code Section 12022.5." Approvingly citing Spencer at length, the California Supreme Court in Najera held that the People waived the application of Section 12022.5 by failing to ask for instructions on use of a weapon, as a jury's findings that a defendant is armed is not equivalent to a finding that a defendant used his weapon.

As the Najera case is not analogous to the instant case, respondent urges this Court to adopt the Arizona view that the court may invoke the enhanced punishment provision when the evidence clearly indicates that the convicted defendant used a firearm during the crime.

POINT V

UTAH CODE ANN. § 76-3-203 (SUPP. 1977), IS A SENTENCING PROVISION ONLY AND DOES NOT CREATE A NEW OFFENSE.

The Utah Legislature inserted the enhancement statute in the Punishments chapter of the Utah Code. Although appellant suggests that the legislature probably intended to create a new offense, respondent submits that placement in the Punishments chapter was more than fortuitous and that had a new offense been intended it would logically have been placed in one of the several Offenses chapters, especially Offenses Against the Person. Significantly, the legislature elected to place the enhancement statute in the Sentencing section of the Punishments chapter, indicating a clear intent that it be a sentencing provision only, not a new offense.

Numerous other states have considered this issue and have determined that no new crime is created. Among neighboring states so finding: Nevada [Raby v. Nevada, 574 P.2d 895 (1976)], California [People v. White, 129 Cal.Rptr. 769, 549 P.2d 537 (1976)], and New Mexico [State v. Barreras, 88 N.Mex 52, 536 P.2d 1108 (1975)].

Respondent acknowledges that the federal enhanced punishment provision of 18 U.S.C. § 924(c) has been construed as creating a separate offense that must be separately charged.

However, the language of the federal statute is dissimilar to the Utah statute, and courts finding that a separate federal offense was created have relied heavily on the legislative history and wording of the Act.

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